THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

WCC File No. 1115485
Appellate Case No. 2018-001197

RECEIVED

NOV 05 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Lamar Clark, Appellant,

v.

Philips Electronics/Shakespeare, Employer,
and Gallagher Bassett Services, Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

William B. Salley, Jr. # 15253
SALLEY LAW FIRM, P.A.
129 E. Main St.
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 356-5000
bsalley@salleylawfirm.com

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674
BLUESTEIN THOMPSON SULLIVAN, LLC
P.O. Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
blake@bluesteinattorneys.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission erred in basing its denial of permanent and total disability benefits on its speculative assessment about how certain information might have affected opinions offered by medical doctors and by other expert witnesses.
- II. Whether the commission also erred in entering an order that does not explain important findings, thereby precluding meaningful judicial review, and containing other findings that are clearly erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision to reverse a single commissioner's award of permanent and total disability benefits.

Lamar Clark injured his back at work in July of 2011. In his initial filing with the commission he explained he and a co-worker were lifting a 27-foot long "cross-arm" when it slipped out of their hands. (1/24/13 Form 50, ¶1b). Mr. Clark reached down and caught his end of the cross-arm around knee level, twisting his back. *Id.* A "cross-arm" is a heavy fiberglass beam apparently used for light poles. (Clark Depo.p.37, line 24 - p.39, line 7).

Respondents admitted the back injury and provided Mr. Clark with medical treatment. He was first diagnosed with pulled muscles, (APAp.1918), but an MRI revealed a herniated disc. (APAp.91). A subsequent diagnostic test confirmed radiculopathy—pain, numbness, and tingling in other parts of the body—caused by a pinched nerve in Mr. Clark's back. (APAp.104). This was consistent with Mr. Clark's complaint of burning pain down the back of his left thigh, into his calf, and occasionally in his left foot. *Id.*

The case has a lengthy procedural history. A large part of the reason for this is that Mr. Clark had back surgery and got better before getting worse. He had his first surgery in

April of 2012 and was placed at MMI in January of 2013. An MRI in June, however, showed another herniated disc requiring a second surgery. See (APApp.3, 19, & 27).

Formal proceedings at the commission began in January of 2013 following the first declaration of MMI. Mr. Clark filed a Form 50 alleging injuries to his back, left leg, and other parts of his body. (1/24/13 Form 50, ¶¶1a & b). Respondents filed a Form 21 in April noting the back injury was admitted, asking to stop paying temporary disability benefits, and requesting the commission determine Mr. Clark's permanent award. (Form 21).

The case was not tried, however, until September of 2016. Again, this was in large part due to the fact that the first declaration of MMI had been premature and that Mr. Clark had a second surgery in September of 2013. (APAp.28). The surgeon released Mr. Clark to a pain management doctor in July of 2014. (APAp.49). The pain management doctor placed Mr. Clark at MMI in August of 2015. (APAp.124). The trial in front of the single commissioner was roughly a year later.

When the case was tried to the single commissioner, the focal points were whether Mr. Clark had more than one body part affected by the injury and the extent of his disability.

Mr. Clark claimed he was permanently and totally disabled. He sought benefits under two statutes: section 42-9-30(21), applying to back injuries, and section 42-9-10, requiring an injury affecting multiple body parts. Mr. Clark noted he had been out of work and on temporary total disability benefits since his first surgery. He sought future medical benefits including a psychological evaluation. (9/6/16 Tr.p.19, line 22 - p.22, line 8).

Respondents argued Mr. Clark had injured one body part only and that his back injury was not severe-enough to qualify for permanent and total disability. Respondents

alternatively argued that if Mr. Clark's back injury affected other parts of his body, he could not show the injuries reduced his earning capacity. (Id.p.22, line 16 - p.23, line 19).

During the trial, however, the key feature of Respondents' case became impeaching Mr. Clark. In 2006, Mr. Clark went to the hospital for pain in his low back with some radiation in his legs. (APAp.2141). He was diagnosed with a muscular back strain. *Id.* He admitted he had not disclosed this incident, which was work-related, explaining "I didn't really think it was an injury." (Clark Depo.p.47, line 16 - p.48, line 1).

Respondents also impeached Mr. Clark with applications for disability benefits that he filed over the telephone in 2008 and 2009. See (APApp.605-620) (the 2008 application) and (APApp.629-639) (the 2009 application). In both instances, Mr. Clark alleged he was disabled due to back pain and a combination of other ailments. (APApp.606, 633).

In December of 2017—three months after the trial—the single commissioner entered an order finding Mr. Clark was permanently and totally disabled. (12/28/17 Or.p.1). The order is lengthy and has detailed summaries of the testimony and medical evidence.

The single commissioner specifically addressed Mr. Clark's 2006 back injury as well as his 2008 and 2009 applications for disability benefits, finding Mr. Clark's testimony about his pre-injury condition was not credible. (Id.p.40, ¶9). In spite of this history, which is admittedly concerning, the single commissioner noted Mr. Clark had been on the job for seven months before he was injured in 2011, that he returned to work and worked six additional months *after* he got injured, that there was objective evidence his 2011 injury was serious, and that his prior treatment in Florida did not undermine this seriousness or the treatment Mr. Clark had received. (Id.pp.40-41, ¶¶9-16).

Respondents appealed the single commissioner's decision to the commission's appellate panel. Their request for appellate panel review included arguments that Mr. Clark had pre-existing emotional problems limiting his ability to work *before* his 2011 accident, that he had pre-existing back and neurological impairments *before* his 2011 accident, and that Mr. Clark had been "physically and psychologically disabled since 2006." (Form 30 Addendum, ¶¶6, 7, and 13). Respondents' brief followed suit, explaining Respondents believed the symptoms in Mr. Clark's leg did not count as another part of the body being affected by the injury, that these symptoms were pre-existing and not attributable to his 2011 back injury, and that he had pre-existing depression. (Resp.PanelBr.pp.17-20).

Respondents also argued the single commissioner had used the wrong date for MMI and that the finding of permanent and total disability was undermined by the fact that Mr. Clark had attended two years of college. (Id.pp.21-29). The single commissioner had noted Mr. Clark completed high school and attended two years of college. (12/28/17Or.p.7).

An appellate panel conducted oral argument in March of 2018, and in an order filed in June of 2018, the panel reversed the single commissioner. The panel held Mr. Clark was not credible and that his lack of credibility undermined the medical and vocational opinions. (Or.p.9, ¶4 & p.10, ¶7). The panel also held Mr. Clark's back injury did not affect any other parts of his body and that he had not lost any of his earning capacity. (Id.p.11, ¶4). The panel denied future medical benefits and entered an award for a 20% disability to the back. (Id.p.10, ¶¶8-9). The panel found MMI occurred July 23, 2014—nearly a year earlier than the date *Respondents* argued—and that Respondents were entitled to reimbursement of roughly \$33,000 for temporary benefits paid after MMI. (Id.p.10, ¶6 & p.11).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is found in section 1-23-380(5) of the South Carolina Code. See also *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 134, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981) (commission is an “agency” and subject to the Administrative Procedures Act). Per the statute, this Court may not substitute its judgment for the commission’s as to the weight of the evidence but may reverse when the decision is affected by an error of law, clearly erroneous, or arbitrary.

ARGUMENT

There are two reasons this Court should reverse the commission.

First, the commission based its decision on speculation. There is no evidence any of the medical doctors or vocational experts would have given different testimony if they had known Mr. Clark suffered from back pain with occasional leg pain in 2006 or that he had applied for disability benefits in 2008 and 2009. The “finding” that this information undermined Mr. Clark’s claim was nothing more than conjecture. Indeed, the only physician who was asked about this information explained that it had no impact on his opinion. And, as the single commissioner accurately found, Mr. Clark’s past does not negate the objective evidence that he suffered a serious injury in 2011 requiring significant treatment.

Second, the order itself is deficient. The commission did not explain several of its findings, precluding meaningful judicial review. There is no explanation of the findings that only one body part was affected, of no wage loss, and the denial of future medical treatment. The order also has findings that are clearly erroneous: The date of MMI is wrong, the percentage awarded to the back is mathematically incorrect, and the only evidence is that Mr. Clark needs at least a psychological evaluation, if not ongoing psychological treatment.

This case had some warts. No claimant is perfect, and an award of permanent disability was certainly not a foregone conclusion. But it is not faithful to the record to deny the objective evidence of a serious injury. If the commission is going to discredit the evidence that Mr. Clark's physical limitations—his inability to sit or stand for any length of time—prevent him from working, it needs to identify an evidentiary basis for that finding. The commission's order has material defects. This Court should reverse.

I. The commission impermissibly based its denial of permanent and total disability benefits on speculation. There is no evidence any of the experts would have given different testimony had they known about Mr. Clark's past.

The commission is required to ground its decisions in the evidence, not on guesses. A statute requires the commission to set forth its findings as well as the underlying facts supporting those findings. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-350 (Supp. ____). Precedent confirms that while the commission's factual findings are normally upheld, factual findings “may not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it.” *Burnette v. City of Greenville*, 401 S.C. 417, 427, 737 S.E.2d 200, 206 (Ct. App. 2012).

In this case, however, the commission held certain information weakened the opinions of medical and vocational experts when there was no evidentiary basis for such a finding. Nobody testified that Mr. Clark's failure to inform his medical doctors or the vocational experts about his prior back injury and disability applications “undermined” the medical opinions, the treatment, and the evaluations of Mr. Clark's capacity for future employment. Yet, that is what the commission found *as a fact*. (Or.p.9, ¶4 & p.10, ¶7).

This was particularly odd because the one physician who was asked this information said it did not affect his opinion. Respondents deposed Mr. Clark's pain management doctor—Dr. Storick—who said it would not have surprised him to learn Mr. Clark had a prior back injury that caused some effects in his leg, that it would not surprise him if Mr. Clark had been given medication for that injury, and when asked “[w]ould that have had any impact on your evaluation of him related to this claim,” he answered “no.” (Storick Depo.p.17, line 20 - p.18, line 12). Precedent recognizes that the commission may disregard medical evidence in favor of other evidence in the record, *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011), but that is different than the commission contradicting a doctor's testimony about whether certain information is relevant to his or her opinion.

It is perfectly fair to scrutinize the record closely, particularly when it looks at first blush like relevant information was not disclosed from the very beginning. But the truth is that Mr. Clark was diagnosed in 2006 with a muscular back strain. (APAp.2141). The evaluations from his 2008 disability application contained his reports that he was able to perform his activities of daily living “without difficulty or assistance”. (APApp.1868). His primary diagnoses following his 2009 disability evaluation was degenerative disc disease. (APAp.650). Mr. Clark also had intermittent left knee pain resulting from a knee injury and surgery while playing football in college. (APAp.1871).

Since July of 2011, however, Mr. Clark has been diagnosed with two herniated discs as well as disc material compressing one of the nerve roots in his spine. The record establishes these diagnoses were supported by objective evidence. An MRI three months

after Mr. Clark's injury confirmed the first herniated disc. (APAp.91). Another test found radiculopathy affecting a nerve root. (Id.p.98). A note from February of 2012 explains Mr. Clark was referred to surgery given "the constellation of objective findings and the failure of conservative treatment." (APAp.104). Other notes recite evidence of an "acute" injury, a disc herniation affecting the left nerve root more than the right, and that "objective" evidence supported Mr. Clark's diagnoses. (APApp.179, 455, & 1873).

This comparison shows it was simply not possible, based on the record, to conclude that the information from Mr. Clark's past undermined the medical evidence supporting his claim. Nothing in the medical evidence suggested his condition could be the result of anything other than an acute injury.

Oddly, the commission committed the same sort of error in finding this undisclosed information would have undermined the vocational opinion supporting Mr. Clark's claim. The commission emphasized that Mr. Clark told the vocational evaluators he had only completed the 12th grade when in fact he had completed two years of college. (Or.p.10, ¶7). But the record discloses Mr. Clark told both vocational evaluators he had completed some college, see (APApp.374, 1930), and both of the evaluators administered vocational tests and evaluated Mr. Clark's level of intelligence. (APApp.383 & 1932-1933).

The two evaluators reached different conclusions; one found Mr. Clark was permanently and totally disabled, the other found he was employable. They parted company over their assessment of Mr. Clark's physical capabilities. One expert believed Mr. Clark was not physically capable of working due to his inability to remain in an upright position for an 8-hour day. (APApp.374, 384). The other expert did not mention these physical

limitations. (Id.pp.1918-1945). Nothing suggests this difference of opinion had anything to do with the length of Mr. Clark's college education or whether Mr. Clark had ever experienced back pain before he suffered a herniated disc in 2011.

The commission based its denial of permanent and total disability on speculation. There is no evidence any of the medical doctors or vocational experts would have given different testimony if they had known Mr. Clark suffered from back pain with occasional leg pain in 2006 or that he had applied for disability benefits in 2008 and 2009. The only physician who was asked about this information explained it did not impact his opinion. Factual findings cannot be based on conjecture. This Court should reverse.

II. The commission erred in entering an order that does not explain important findings and containing other findings that are clearly erroneous.

The commission held only one part of Mr. Clark's body had been affected, that Mr. Clark's earning capacity had not diminished, and that he was not entitled to future medical benefits. (Or.pp.10-11, ¶¶9 & 4). The commission did not explain any of these findings.

This is a problem because administrative agencies are required to issue detailed orders explaining the agency's reasoning. If an agency fails to do so, its order will be declared invalid. See, e.g. *Canteen v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 400 S.C. 551, 559, 735 S.E.2d 246, 250 (Ct. App. 2012) and *Able Communications v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 290 S.C. 409, 410, 351 S.E.2d 151, 152 (1986) (articulating this rule). Here, we do not know why the commission found only one part of Mr. Clark's body was affected, why it found he has not lost any earning capacity, or why it found he was not entitled to any future medical benefits. We are simply left to guess.

We do not know, for example, whether the commission bought Respondents' argument that the neurological pain and numbness in Mr. Clark's left leg did not count as having another body part "affected" such that Mr. Clark could pursue a claim under section 42-9-10. See (Resp.PanelBr.p.17). Or, the commission might have agreed with Respondents' argument that the radiculopathy diagnosed after Mr. Clark's 2011 injury had actually been there all along and that Mr. Clark somehow managed to work through this pain for seven months before the accident and six months after the accident. We do not know what grounds the commission used to find only one body part was affected.

The same is true with respect to the commission's finding that Mr. Clark had not suffered a loss of earning capacity. As the Court is aware, an injured worker is allowed to offer evidence of the decrease in earning capacity if an injury affects multiple parts of the injured worker's body. The policy behind allowing an injured worker to present this evidence is that it allows the injured worker to establish a greater degree of disability than the disability presumed in section 42-1-30 for an injury whose effects are confined to a single body part. *Brown v. Owen Steel Co.*, 316 S.C. 278, 280, 450 S.E.2d 57, 58 (Ct. App. 1994). The commission's order does not explain why it found no reduction in Mr. Clark's earning capacity. Presumably, it credited the vocational assessment concluding Mr. Clark—who had been out of work for more than two years on temporary total disability benefits—could work full-time or part time, but we do not know.

As for the denial of future medical treatment, it is difficult to come up with any possible basis for the commission's decision. As far back as 2013, Mr. Clark's surgeon said he would need an evaluation by a pain management doctor to recommend medicine.

(APA.p.20). In 2016, the same surgeon said Mr. Clark's pain management doctor would need to "optimize" Mr. Clark's medicines and consider a spinal cord stimulator. (Id.p.289).

Mr. Clark's pain management doctor said in his deposition that Mr. Clark would need pain management visits twice per year, ongoing medicine, and that "most people in [Mr. Clark's] situation usually have lifetime medicals." (Storick Depo.p.40, lines 2-7 & p.79, lines 13-16).. On the eve of trial in 2016, he referred Mr. Clark for a pre-operative interview and assessment for a test run with a spinal cord stimulator. (APAp.1872). Other doctors explained Mr. Clark would need ongoing medication. (APApp.250, 468, 1915). Mr. Clark is not aware of any opinion supporting the decision that he needs no future medical care.

The commission also entered three findings that were clearly erroneous.

First, the commission found Mr. Clark reached MMI on July 23, 2014. (Or.p.10, ¶6). This was the date Mr. Clark's surgeon referred him to a pain management doctor, (APAp.49), and a full year before Mr. Clark's pain management doctor placed him at MMI. (Id.p.124).

This was odd because Respondents had argued the pain management doctor gave the correct date for MMI. (Resp.PanelBr.p.21). The commission did not agree. This had a significant consequence for Mr. Clark because the earlier MMI date materially increased the amount Respondents had overpaid him in temporary disability benefits.

Second, the commission found Mr. Clark sustained a 20% disability to his back. The commission based this on the 20% rating from Mr. Clark's surgeon, but the record discloses that rating was a "whole person" rating, not a back rating. (APAp.489). Precedent notes that "whole person" impairment ratings are lower than ratings to the back. *Lawson v. Hanson*

Brick Am., 393 S.C. 87, 89, 710 S.E.2d 711, 712 (Ct. App. 2011) (noting a twenty-five percent whole-person rating translates to a thirty-three percent lumbar impairment). This was echoed by other records in this case, demonstrating ratings for the back that were higher than ratings for the whole person. See, e.g. (APAp.156) (twenty-five percent impairment of the whole person results in a twenty-eight percent impairment of the lumbar spine). A three percent difference in the disability award may seem trivial, but it is not.

Third and finally, the only evidence is that Mr. Clark has depression as a result of his prolonged post-surgical pain and needs at least a psychological evaluation, if not ongoing psychological treatment. The record has multiple recommendations for a psychological evaluation and/or treatment. (APApp.129-130, 230, 393-394, & Storick Depop.64, lines 3-6). There is even a report in the record explaining “[i]ndividuals with similar injuries and resulting symptoms have benefitted from routine psychiatric visits[.]” (APAp.370). The commission found the greater weight of the evidence supported that Mr. Clark had pre-existing psychological issues, (Or.p.9, ¶3), but there is no evidence he was ever given a psychological evaluation and no evidence such an evaluation was ever recommended before his injury. The only evidence is that he needs such an evaluation now.

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