THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
Michael Campbell, Commissioner
Susan Barden, Commissioner

W.C.C. File No. 1115485
Case No. 2018-001197

RECEIVED
MAY 13 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Lamar Clark,

Appellant,

v.

Philips Electronics/Shakespeare, Employer,
and Gallagher Bassett Services, Carrier,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Brooke A. Payne (SC Bar# 81085)
Ryan Oxford (SC Bar # 101326)
PAYNE LAW GROUP, LLC
P.O. Box 2449
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465
(P) 843-810-8955
Email: BPayne@PayneLG.com
ROxford@PayneLG.com
Attorneys for Respondents

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

1. **THE APPELLATE DIVISION'S CONCLUSION THAT CLARK IS NOT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED IS BASED ON THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD, NOT SPECULATION.**

a. **The Appellate Division's Conclusion that Clark is Not Permanently and Totally Disabled Under § 42-9-10 is Supported by Substantial Evidence in the Record and the Applicable Law.**

The Appellate Panel properly determined that Clark is not permanently and totally disabled under § 42-9-10, which is supported by the substantial evidence in the record. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10, when the incapacity for work resulting from an injury is total, the Employee may be found permanently and totally disabled. South Carolina Courts treat total disability as an “inability to perform services other than those that are ‘so limited in quality, dependability, or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.’” Coleman v. Quality Concrete Products, 245 S.C. 625, 142 S.E.2d 43, 44 (1965); Koon v. Spartan Mills, 286 S.C. 190, 332 S.E.2d 544 (Ct. App. 1985). The substantial evidence consisting of the vocational opinions and medical evidence in the record do not support the Claimant being permanently and totally disabled under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10.

i. **The vocational opinions in the record do not support Clark being totally incapacitated from working as a result of his injury at Philips.**

Clark reported to the vocational evaluators that he had only completed one year of college at Georgia Military College. (R. p. 172) In contrast, Clark noted on his 2008 and 2012 SSDI applications that he had *completed* 2 years of college. (R. p. 511). At the Hearing, Clark admitted that he attended GA Military College for 1 year and took some courses at Kaiser College, majoring in computer programming. (R. p. 172).

Clark argues that the Appellate panel relied on speculative evidence to arrive at their conclusion, as there is no evidence that the experts would have given different testimony had they known about Clark's past. Respondents proved this untrue by obtaining an updated opinion from their vocational expert when the additional information was uncovered.

The vocational opinion of Ms. Jan Westmoreland illustrates the probative value of Clark's additional year at Kaiser College. On the basis that Clark only had a high school education and 1 year at GA Military College, Ms. Westmoreland determined that Clark could work as a Ticket Taker, Box Office Cashier, Garage Cashier, and Attendance Monitor. (R. pp. 478– 505). However, a subsequent evaluation was performed by Ms. Westmoreland on July 18, 2016, after discovering that Clark spent an additional year at Kaiser College, majoring in computer programming. (R. pp. 500-505). Based on Clark's newly disclosed educational background, Ms. Westmoreland found additional jobs with higher rates of pay, specifically: Technical Support Servicer, Implementation Coordinator, Service Representative, Security Guard, Tax Support Specialist, Guest Service Representative, and Computer Operator; earning up to \$40,000.00 a year in the Columbia, South Carolina area. (R. pp. 503 – 504).

In reality, the only speculative opinions in the record are those of Clark's experts, whose opinions are all based on a hypothetical Claimant – not Clark.

Clark's vocational expert, Dr. Brabham, evidences the emphasis he placed on multiple factors that were inaccurate, and the impact those factors played in his vocational opinion. Dr. Brabham was unaware of Clark's additional schooling, noting that beyond the year at GA Military College "he has received no further training." (R. p. 365). Dr. Brabham noted that Mr. Clark had a "stable" work history. (Id.) This conclusion is contradicted by Clark's multiple SSDI applications, wherein he alleged a complete inability to work. Similarly, Dr. Brabham questioned Clark about any prior work injuries or pre-existing conditions, and Clark informed him only of a "prior left knee injury while attending college." (R. p. 365). Relying on Clark's false history, Dr. Brabham concluded that "Clearly, it is the on-the-job injury in 2011, which began his medical problems which have been the primary basis for his inability to maintain gainful employment." (Id.) For all of the reasons above, the Appellate Panel properly did not place any weight on Dr. Brabham's vocational opinion.

The Panel found Clark's lack of truthfulness throughout the pendency of this matter to be an impediment in many regards. As properly pointed out by the Appellate Panel, a designation of permanent and total disability is determined by vocational abilities. (R. p. 269). Specifically, the Panel Commissioners discussed that a vocational analysis is performed by a vocational evaluator, who rely on what should be truthful information, but the Panel was appropriately concerned that Clark's evaluators were unaware of the full extent of his educational achievements and skill sets. (Id.)

ii. The medical evidence in the record does not support Clark being totally incapacitated from work as a result of his injury at Philips.

Clark argues that there is nothing in the medical evidence to suggest that his condition could be the result of anything other than an acute injury. Had the hearing occurred months prior, Clark's assertion would have been accurate, since it took Respondents years to uncover the voluminous evidence proving that he sustained a significant prior low back injury.

The Appellate Panel found the Claimant to be wholly lacking in credibility, and found that his lack of credibility undermined the medical opinions and treatment received in relation to this claim, as the opinions and conclusions of his providers were based on self-serving assertions of the Claimant. (R. p. 57).

The Appellate Panel was also persuaded by Clark's lack of candor when it came to his physical condition before and after the work injury at Philips. (R. p. 58). At his May 2013 deposition, Clark denied ever injuring his back prior to the 2011 work accident and also expressly denied ever having a workers' compensation claim. This is directly contradicted by all of the information Respondents obtained (without the help of Clark) which was contained in his prior medical records, SSDI file and Florida workers' compensation file evidencing that Clark not only had a prior work-related back injury at Tile Depot, but the injury was significant enough for him to allege an inability to work for multiple years.

The Appellate Panel further found the authorized treating physicians to be Drs. Holbrook and Storick and properly gave those opinions the greatest weight. (R. p. 58). Even so, all of Clark's treating physicians including Dr. Holbrook, Dr. Westerkam, Dr. Hutcheson, and Dr. Girault found

that Clark was capable of returning to work in the sedentary to light duty capacity. (R. pp. 329 – 330, 326 – 328, 333 – 336, 411, 477).

This Court should affirm the Appellate Panel’s decision that Clark did not meet his burden of proving entitlement to permanent and total disability benefits under § 42-9-10, as this Conclusion is supported by the substantial evidence in the record.

b. The Appellate Division’s Conclusion that Clark Did Not Sustain 50% or More Loss of Use of His Back and is Therefore Not Entitled to Permanent and Total Benefits Under § 42-9-30(21) is Supported by Substantial Evidence in the Record and the Applicable Law, Not Speculation.

Under § 42-9-30(21), provided a Claimant is found to sustain 50% or more loss of use to the back, the injured employee shall be presumed to be permanently and totally disabled. The extent of loss of use “need not be shown with mathematical precision.” Bundrick v. Powell’s Garage, 248 S.C. 496, 151 S.E.2d 437 (1966). Nevertheless, the award may not “rest on surmise, conjecture, or speculation; it must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford it a reasonable basis.” (Id.).

The Appellate Division concluded that Clark sustained a 20% permanent impairment to his back, taking into account any affects to his legs. (R. p. 60). The Order indicates that the Panel based this conclusion on the fact that Drs. Holbrook and Storick are Clark’s authorized physicians, are properly afforded more persuasive weight, and both physicians assigned a medical impairment rating of 20%. (R. p. 58).

This Court should affirm the Appellate Panel's decision that Clark did not meet his burden of proving entitlement to permanent and total disability benefits under § 42-9-30(21), as this Conclusion is supported by the substantial evidence in the record, not speculation.

2. THE APPELLATE DIVISION'S ORDER PROPERLY EXPLAINED ALL OF ITS FINDINGS.

Clark argues that the Appellate Division erred in not explaining its findings that (1) only one part of Clark's body had been affected; (2) Clark's earning capacity had not diminished and (3) that he was not entitled to future medical benefits.

a. The Appellate Division's Order Properly Supports its Finding that Only One Part of Clark's Body Had Been Affected.

Clark argues that "we" do not know why the Appellate Panel found that only one part of his body was affected. This is incorrect.

Clark argues that he sustained a back and psychological injury as a result of the work incident, entitling him to seek recovery under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10. The substantial evidence in the record does not support that Clark suffered a psychological injury as a result of the work accident. Rather, the record reveals numerous inconsistencies regarding Clark's pre-existing and current psychological issues and the Appellate Panel properly considered all of this evidence, as detailed in its Order.

The Appellate Panel relied on Clark's 2008 and 2009 SSDI documents which evidenced that he alleged that he was suffering from mental or emotional issues at that time which limited his ability to work, and had been seen by a provider for same. (R. p. 57, pp. 506-652). Clark's

2008 SSDI application evidences that Clark had been seen by a provider for emotional or mental problems *that limited his ability to work*. (R. p. 602). Further, the Appellate Panel was also persuaded by the fact that Clark maintained his denial of any prior psychological issues at the Hearing, and his medical records are void of any mention to his treating physicians of his prior psychological issues and/or treatment, as detailed in the Order. (R. p. 57, pp. 160- 161) Given the above findings, the Appellate Panel properly held that Clark sustained an injury to only one body part, his back, as the greater weight of the evidence does not support his alleged psychological issues being causally related to his accident of July 20, 2011. (R. p. 57).

b. The Appellate Division's Order Properly Supports its Finding that the Claimant's Earning Capacity Had Not Diminished.

Clark argues that "we" do not know why the Appellate Panel found that his earning capacity had not diminished. This is incorrect.

The Appellate Panel's Order details findings relied on in support of this conclusion, all of which are detailed above in Argument Section I. (R. p. 58). Given the above findings, the Appellate Panel properly held that Clark did not sustain a diminished earning capacity as a result of his work injury at Philips.

c. The Appellate Division's Order Properly Supports its Finding that Clark is Not Entitled to Future Medical Benefits.

Clark argues that "we" do not know why the Appellate Panel found that he is not entitled to future medical benefits. This is incorrect.

The Appellate Panel arrived at this conclusion based on the substantial evidence in the record which shows that the Claimant had a significant pre-existing back condition, sustained an aggravation of same while working for Philips, and his condition has improved significantly since that incident. The Panel took into account the voluminous records proving that the Claimant sustained a significant injury to his low back in 2006 while working for Tile Depot, he failed to inform his physicians, evaluators and the Respondents of same, and he maintained this denial even up to the date of the Hearing. (R. p. 57). Moreover, the Panel was persuaded by the fact that Clark was treating for his low back and flank pain up to 7 months before his injury at Philips. (Id.).

The Appellate Panel was undoubtedly persuaded by Clark's lack of credibility on this issue, as the Panel noted that all of the opinions and conclusions of Clark's providers were based upon self-serving assertions of the Claimant. (R. p. 57). As is no surprise, Clark disputed all of the medical records which evidenced improvement in his condition following his work injury at Philips, which did not go unnoticed by the Appellate Panel. (R. pp. 175-177, 183, 191). Given the above findings, the Appellate Panel properly held that Clark is not entitled to future medical benefits.

3. THE FINDINGS CONTAINED IN THE APPELLATE DIVISION'S ORDER ARE NOT ERRONEOUS

Clark further argues that the Appellate Division erred in entering three findings that were clearly erroneous: (1) Clark reached MMI on July 23, 2014, (2) Clark sustained a 20% disability to his back and (3) the greater weight of the evidence supported Clark's pre-existing psychological issues.

a. **The Appellate Division's Finding that Clark Reached MMI on July 23, 2014 is Supported by the Substantial Evidence in the Record and is Not Erroneous.**

MMI is a term used to indicate that a person has reached such a plateau that in the physician's opinion there is no further medical care or treatment which *will tend to lessen the degree of impairment*. O'Banner v. Westinghouse Elect. Co., 319 S.C. 24, 28, 459 S.E.2d 324, 327 (1995) (*emphasis added*). However, it is well established that the fact that a Claimant has reached MMI does not preclude a finding that a Claimant may still require additional medical care or treatment. Dodge v. Bruccoli, Clark, Layman, Inc., 334 S.C. 574, 514 S.E.2d 593 (Ct. App. 1999). In making the determination as to whether additional medical treatment is supplemental to a determination of MMI or whether it prevents MMI, the Court must consider whether, "additional medical treatment may improve [a Claimant's] overall quality of life and ability to cope, but not otherwise impact the finding of maximum medical improvement." Pearson v. JPS Converter & Indus. Corp., 327 S.C. 393, 397, 489 S.E.2d 219, 221 (Ct. App. 1997).

The Appellate Panel properly found that the substantial evidence in the record reveals that Clark reached MMI as of July 23, 2014. (R. p. 58). The Panel based this finding on the fact that Drs. Holbrook and Storick are Clark's authorized physicians and the 14B completed by Dr. Holbrook, wherein he placed Clark at MMI as of July 23, 2014. (R. p. 57).

b. **The Appellate Division's Finding that Clark Sustained a 20% Disability to his Back is Supported by the Substantial Evidence in the Record and is Not Erroneous.**

Similarly, the Appellate Division concluded that Clark sustained a 20% permanent impairment to his back, taking into account any affects to his legs. (R. p. 58). The Order indicates that the Panel based this conclusion on the fact that Drs. Holbrook and Storick are Clark's authorized physicians and are properly afforded more persuasive weight, both physicians assigned a medical impairment rating of 20%. (R. pp. 58 - 60).

c. **The Appellate Division's Finding that the Greater Weight of the Evidence Supports Clark's Pre-Existing Psychological Issues is Supported by the Substantial Evidence in the Record and is Not Erroneous.**